S203561

LIU, J.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF JULIE R. GREEN and TIMOTHY P. GREEN

JULIE R. GREEN,

Petitioner/Appellant,

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 26 2012

VS.

TIMOTHY P. GREEN,

Respondent/Respondent.

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

CRC 8.25(b)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

On Appeal from the Contra Costa County Superior Court, Case no. DR 41290, Hon. Charles B. Burch, Presiding, following a May 16, 2012 Opinion of the First District Court of Appeal, Division Four, in Case no. A129436

Robert A. Roth, Esq., SBN 113201

TARKINGTON, O'NEILL, BARRACK & CHONG

2711 Alcatraz Avenue, Suite 3

Berkeley, CA 94705-2726

Berkeley, CA 94705-2726 (510) 704-0921

I. QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Under what circumstances, if any, does the marital community have an interest in valuable pension credits that a married public employee is eligible for because of premarital public service, but which the employee-spouse purchases, or is eligible to purchase, during marriage?

Under what circumstances, if any, does the marital community have an interest in valuable pension credits that a married CalPERS employee is eligible for because of premarital public service, but which the employee-spouse purchases, or is eligible to purchase, during marriage?

II. INTRODUCTION

The California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) allows members to purchase retirement system credits based on their pre-employment 'public service' activities. (See Government Code sections 21020-20130.) "Over the years, CalPERS members have been authorized to purchase 27 different types of service credit, using 10 different costing methods." (Senate Public Employment & Retirement Committee, Comments on AB 2840 (2000); quoted and reproduced in the October 7, 2011 Amicus Brief filed by the Northern California Chapter of the American Academy of Matrimonial Lawyers ('Amicus Brief') at pp. 2, Appendix p. 1.) While public service credits must be 'purchased,' the price charged is frequently far less than the value of the resulting retirement benefits. (See Amicus Brief, p. 8.) This case poses important questions regarding the marital community's interest, if any, in an employeespouse's opportunity to purchase valuable service credits that are based on premarital public service.

Here, the employee-spouse purchased public service pension credits based on his pre-marital, life-imperiling military service. Such

credits may be purchased in a lump sum (utilizing either community or separate property funds), or through payroll deductions (community property salary if done during marriage, and separate property earnings thereafter). (Government Code section 21050, subd. (a); Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 575.1.) Here, Husband paid for the service credits by installment deductions from his marital employment earnings.

After full briefing on appeal, having difficulty analyzing the community property implications of this transaction, Division Four of the First District Court of Appeal *sua sponte* solicited an amicus brief from the Northern California Chapter of the American Academy of Matrimonial Lawyers, which was followed by responsive briefs from the parties.

The Academy could not reach consensus on the proper analysis, and presented two opposing viewpoints. (See Opinion p. 3 [attached hereto as 'Exhibit A]; Amicus Brief p. 1.) The Court of Appeal's published Opinion, issued on May 16, 2012, found this appeal to present issues of first impression. (Opinion p. 1.)

The ramifications of this case are wide-ranging, extending far beyond the over one million employees covered by the CalPERS system. (See CalPERS (May 2012) Facts at a Glance: General, p.1. calpers.ca.gov/eip-docs/about/facts/general.pdf.) Many other public retirement systems allow employees to obtain additional retirement system credits based on prior military service, or for other approved forms of 'public service.' (See, e.g., Education Code sections 22805-22806 [State Teachers' Retirement System]; Government Code sections 9356.21 [Legislators' Retirement Law]; 31479.3 [County Employees Retirement Law]; 75031.5 [Judicial Retirement Law].) Under the CalPERS system, public service pension credits may be purchased not just for the military service, as is at issue here, but also for such diverse pre-employment activities as: periods when the member was laid off from public employment; time spent as a prisoner of war or recovering from war wounds; working in a judicial or legislative fellowship; services for AmeriCorps, CETA-sponsored employers, the National Guard, or the Merchant Marine; and a variety of other circumstances. (See Opinion at p. 5 fn. 3; Government Code sections 21020-20130.)

Moreover, as pointed out by the Amicus Brief in this matter, the analysis of public service credits under CalPERS could affect rights under private sector ERISA plans, as well:

... this case could have implications far beyond the treatment of service credit purchases made under CalPERS, since it is not unheard of for a private-industry-defined benefit plan to grant additional service credit for pre-participation or even pre-plan service. (Amicus Brief p. 38.)

The implications of this case are broad, and pose a risk of burdensome procedures and unfair results, absent this Court's guidance. This Court should grant review to further its goals of addressing important issues of law, and promoting clarity and fairness in the lower courts. (California Rules of Court, rule 8.500 (b)(1).)

III. PROCEDURAL HISTORY & STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Timothy Green ('Husband') served in the U.S. Air Force from July 23, 1982 to May 1, 1986. (AA 112, 143; RT 3.) On June 16, 1989, Husband was hired as a firefighter for the Dougherty Regional Fire Authority ('DRFA'), in Dublin, California. (AA 143; RT 3.)

DRFA was a public agency member of the California Public

Employees' Retirement System ('CalPERS'). Like many other CalPERS member agencies, DRFA had contracted with CalPERS to offer employees the option to purchase up to four years of retirement service credits on account of prior military service. (AA 143; RT 3; Govt. Code § 21024, subds. (a) and (e).) The purchase could be made, at Husband's election, in either a lump sum or in installments (which can **only** be made by payroll deduction). (Government Code section 21050, subd. (a); Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 575.1.)

On July 1, 1997, DRFA merged with the Alameda County Fire Department. This did not affect Husband's military service credit option, as the Alameda County Fire Department had contracted for the same benefit. (AA 143; RT 3; Govt. Code §§ 20508, 21025.)

Husband married Julie Green ('Wife') on May 16, 1992. Over ten years later, on August 1, 2002, Husband exercised his right to purchase four years of CalPERS service credits on account of his premarital military service. Husband had been eligible to exercise this option for more than 13 years. He arranged to make the purchase through bi-monthly payroll deductions of \$92.44 over a 15 year (180 month) period, in a total amount of \$33,278.40. There is no evidence

in the record suggesting that Husband had any separate property resources available with which to fund a lump sum service credit purchase. Husband's last installment payment for the military service credit purchase is scheduled for July 20, 2017. (AA 143; RT 3; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, § 575.1.)

The parties separated on October 1, 2007. At that time, the community had made 62 of the 180 monthly installment payments, in an amount totaling \$11,462.56. (AA 143-144.)

Similarly to Husband, Wife also served in the military prior to marriage, and worked during marriage for a CalPERS employer offering the option to purchase military service credits. Husband and Wife had discussed which of their military service credits to purchase, before deciding to purchase Husband's only during the marriage. (RT 10-11.)

On March 12, 2008, Wife filed a petition for dissolution of her marriage to Husband. (AA 1.) Following various preliminary proceedings, the matter came to trial in April 2010, before the Hon. Charles B. Burch. (AA 149.)

As to the division of military service credits in Husband's CalPERS retirement account, the parties submitted pre-trial briefs and a stipulation to uncontroverted facts. (AA 112-131, 143-144; RT 3.) The superior court relied largely on this Court's decision in *In re* Marriage of Sonne, in deciding how to divide Husband's military service credits. (RT 28-34, 40-43; In re Marriage of Sonne (2010) 48 Cal.4th 118.) The military service credits were awarded to Husband as his sole property; with Wife to be reimbursed for half the installment payments made during marriage (i.e. \$5,737.28), plus interest at the six percent interest rate that CalPERS pays employees for refunded contributions. Including accumulated interest, Husband was ordered to pay Wife \$6,699.54. (AA 144, 156; RT 40-43; Gov. Code § 20178.) Wife also received half of the service credits in Husband's CalPERS retirement account for the years of the marriage.

Wife was awarded her own CalPERS pension in the division of community property. As she was employed by a CalPERS agency, she thus had a right from that time forward to purchase military service credits for that pension. (AA 156; RT 10-11.)

A Judgment implementing the ruling was entered on June 28,

2010. (AA 149.) Wife filed notice of appeal from that Judgment on August 18, 2010. (AA 172.)

On August 24, 2011, after the filing of the Appellant's Opening Brief, Respondent's Brief, and Appellant's Reply Brief, the First District Court of Appeal, Division Four, *sua sponte* requested that the Northern California Chapter of the American Academy of Matrimonial Lawyers ('the Academy') submit an Amicus Brief addressing a variety of specified questions. The parties were given leave to, and in fact did, file additional briefs responsive to the Amicus Brief. The Amicus Brief was filed on October 7, 2011.

The Academy was unable to reach a consensus regarding the proper method for allocating separate property and community property interests in the purchased military service credits, and submitted two opposing analyses of the case. Argument A, written by Barbara DiFranza, concluded that the purchased credits were separate property. Argument B, written by Ann Fallon, concluded that the purchased credits were community property. (See Amicus Brief p. 1; Opinion at p. 3. See also *Sonne, supra*, 48 Cal.4th at 121-122, 127 [finding DiFranza analysis helpful].) The Amicus Brief also reflected

input from attorney Diana Richmond; and from James M. Crawford, an expert on private ERISA pensions, who suggested that the case outcome could have significant implications for private industry defined benefit pension plans. (Amicus Brief 1, 11 fn. 3, 38.)

On May 16, 2012, the First District Court of Appeal, Division Four, issued its decision in an Opinion designated for publication.

The First District took a different analytical approach than any of the alternate Amicus approaches.

The lynchpin of the First District's analysis was its conclusion that because, by statute, CalPERS agencies can elect to stop offering members the option to purchase public service credits, that purchase right is not vested but rather is a mere "expectancy" until such time as the employee has contracted for the purchase. The court determined that Husband's premarital military service did not create a separate property interest in the associated retirement credits, because they were not purchased until he was married. (Opinion at pp. 5, 8-11, 13.)

The Court of Appeal remanded the case without guidance as to whether the time rule or some other apportionment method should be

used, and suggested that the trial court consider additional evidence, without clarifying whether actuarial appraisals were necessary.

(Opinion at pp. 16-19.)

On June 1, 2012, Husband filed a timely Petition for Rehearing. On June 6, 2012, the First District issued an Order modifying and correcting its Opinion, deleting and replacing three paragraphs, but denied Husband's rehearing request and left the disposition unchanged. (Exhibit B.) Husband now seeks relief from this Court through his timely Petition for Review.

IV. LEGAL DISCUSSION

The valuable public service credits at issue here are a common feature of numerous public retirement plans, and raise substantial questions affecting the property rights of a large number of California families. As noted in the Amicus Brief, the principles decided here may also impact analysis of property rights to private defined benefit retirement plans, as well. (Amicus Brief p. 38.) The case presents important questions of first impression that are a proper subject for this Court's review. (California Rules of Court, rule 8.500 (b)(1).)

The appeal raises serious questions regarding whether according no weight whatsoever to the life-imperiling premarital military service upon which the credits are explicitly based confers a disproportionate benefit on the community that is not "fairly representative of the relative contributions of the community and separate estates." (*In re Marriage of Lehman* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 169, 187.) Also at issue, where as here the employee spouse was single when he started working for the CalPERS employer, is the effect of Government Code section 21034, which provides that purchased service credits are to be credited "as it would be credited if the member had been in state service during his or her public service."

The First District's conclusion that because an employer may change what benefits it offers, public service credits are mere expectancies and not contingent vested rights, appears to be a significant modification or departure from prior holdings characterizing retirement benefit rights. (Opinion at p. 9; *Lehman, supra,* 18 Cal. 4th at 183-184; *In re Marriage of Brown* (1976) 15 Cal. 3d 838, 842 fn. 2, 846 fn. 8; *In re Marriage of Fithian* (1974) 10 Cal. 3d 592, 602 fn.14 & accompanying text; *In re Marriage of*

Hillerman (1980) 109 Cal. App. 3d 334, 340. See also CalPERS, <u>Vested Rights of CalPERS Members (July 2011) p. 13 [see calpers.ca.gov/eip-docs/about/press/news/vested-rights.pdf].)</u>

The daunting issues raised in this appeal will not go away by merely depublishing the Opinion. Moreover, even if the First District's analysis is correct, it leaves many unanswered questions which will result in a deluge of litigation unless this Court's guidance is provided. The Opinion expressly leaves unanswered whether the time rule or some other apportionment method should determine characterization of purchased service credits, and what "additional evidence" can properly be considered to determine apportionment. (Opinion at pp. 16-19.) Likewise, the decision offers no guidance for how its analysis would apply when premarital service credits are purchased during marriage in a lump sum using separate property. (See Resp. Br. 11; Opinion at p. 6 fn. 4; Government Code section 21050, subd. (a).)

The Opinion suggests that treating marital purchase of premarital service credits as separate property might have the unintended consequence of creating a claim for a nonemployee

spouse if an employee were to purchase service credits for periods of marital public service after divorce using separate property. (Opinion at p. 15.) However, it fails to provide guidance on whether eligibility for premarital service credits is a community investment opportunity that a spouse has a fiduciary duty to exercise during marriage.

Both the lower courts and families across California would benefit from this Court's guidance on how community contributions toward purchased public service credits based on premarital labor should be treated, and the evidentiary standards to be applied in such cases. By granting review, this Court will further its goals of addressing important issues of law, and promoting more uniformity, clarity and fairness in the lower courts. (California Rules of Court, rule 8.500 (b)(1).)

V. CONCLUSION

`For the reasons stated herein, petitioner Timothy Green respectfully requests that this Court grant review; upon review, reverse the Court of Appeal's Opinion; and grant such other relief as the Court deems appropriate.