IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JULIE R. GREEN,) Court of Appeals No. A129	436
Appellant,)	
v.) (Superior Court No. D08-01	292)
TIMOTHY P. GREEN,))	SUPREME COURT FILED
Respondent.	ý	JUL 16 2012
Appeal from a Judgment Of the Superior Court, County of Contra Costa The Honorable Susan Fenstermacher, Judge The Honorable Charles B. Burch, Judge And Upon Opinion		Frank A. McGuire Clerk
		Deputy
Of the First District	Court of Appeals, Division Four	,
. É		
ANSWER TO	PETITION FOR REVIEW	

April Rose Sommer SBN: 257967 P.O. Box 6937 Moraga, CA 94570-6937 Phone (510) 423-0676 Fax (510) 590-3999 Attorney for Appellant Julie R. Green

INTRODUCTION

This case addresses the characterization of California Public Employees' Retirement System ("CalPERS") public service credit for active military service retirement benefits ("military service credit") as community or separate property. In a decision published at *In re Marriage of Green* (2012) 205 Cal. App. 4th 1475, the California Court of Appeals, District One properly held that the military service credit at issue is community property to be apportioned between the parties. Mr. Green has not presented any compelling argument as to why this decision should be reviewed by the Supreme Court of California and so the Petition for Review should be denied.

ARGUMENT

There is no reason, articulated in Mr. Green's Petition for Review or otherwise, why the Court of Appeals decision need be reviewed by the Supreme Court of California. Mr. Green argues that this Court should grant review "to further its goals of addressing important issues of law and promoting clarity and fairness in the lower courts" (Petition 5) and because "this case presents important questions of first impression" (Petition 11). Although Mr. Green claims that review should be granted pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1), he has not shown that Supreme

Court of California review is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) There are no conflicting decisions at issue and the Court of Appeals settled all raised questions of law.

The Petition for Review has not met the standard for Supreme Court of California review and Mr. Green has not presented a convincing argument that there are unaddressed issues of law; has overstated the potential impact of this case; and has misstated the Court of Appeals holding. Review should, therefore, be denied.

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS FULLY ADDRESSED ALL RAISED QUESTIONS OF LAW

Mr. Green's argument that there are unaddressed issues of law is unconvincing. Mr. Green's Petition for Review claims that the Court of Appeals opinion "leaves many unanswered questions which will result in a deluge of litigation unless this Court's guidance is provided." (Petition 13.) There are no such unanswered questions and the Court of Appeals decision fully settled the very narrow question of law presented by this case — whether a specific and highly unique type of public retirement benefit should be characterized as community or separate property upon the dissolution of a marriage of a benefit recipient.

A. Government Code Section 21034 Does Not Have Any Bearing On This Case

Mr. Green's claim that review should be granted because the Court of Appeals did not address an entirely irrelevant statute does not establish grounds for review. Mr. Green claims that "Also at issue, where as here the employee spouse was single when he started working for the CalPERS employer, is the effect of Government Code section 21034, which provides that purchased service credit are to be credited "as it would be credited if the member had been in state service during his or her public service.""

(Petition 12.) Government Code section 21034 is not relevant in this case.

Mr. Green's partial quotation of the statute implies that section 21034 somehow impacts the credits at issue. This is not the case. Section 21034 reads, "Public service may be credited as current or prior service, or both, as it would be credited if the member had been in state service during his or her public service."

For a local member like Mr. Green, prior service is defined as service which the member completed "prior to the effective date of the contract under which he or she became a member." (Gov. Code, § 20055.) Mr. Green has never alleged that there is any issue of prior service in this case and even if there was, this does not impact the community property question at issue.

B. There Is No Relevant Community Investment Opportunity Issue

Petitioner claims that the opinion is deficient in that is "fails to provide guidance on whether eligibility for premarital service credits is a community investment opportunity that a spouse has a fiduciary duty to exercise during marriage." (Petition 14.) Any argument regarding fiduciary duties of spouses in relation to investment opportunities is not relevant to the legal question at issue - the characterization of retirement benefits at dissolution. This argument is particularly unavailing as, in his Answer in the Court of Appeals proceedings, Mr. Green actually argued that "the military retirement credits were not a community 'investment opportunity." (Answer 22.)

Furthermore, this was not raised before the Court of Appeal and, pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(1), should not be considered by the Supreme Court of California.

C. Review Should Not be Granted On The Basis of Unaddressed Hypothetical Fact Patterns

Mr. Green states "The decision offers no guidance for how its analysis would apply when premarital service credits are purchased during marriage in a lump sum using separate property." (Petition 13.) This hypothetical fact pattern is not relevant and the Courts of Appeals'

responsibility is to address the fact pattern presented at the trial court.

There is no question about the fact that Mr. Green made a choice, of his own free will, to purchase military service credit with community funds on an installment plan during marriage. The Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court of California are not charged with addressing any of the endless other hypothetical scenarios that could exist. Having thus fulfilled its responsibility to issue a decision based upon the facts as determined at trial, the Court of Appeals decision need not be reviewed.

II. THE PETITION FOR REVIEW MISSTATES THE COURT OF APPEALS HOLDING

Petitioner uses a misstatement of the Court of Appeals decision to claim that it represents a departure from prior holdings. There is no such departure and the Court of Appeals decision sufficiently addresses the issue in accordance with the current body of community property case law. The Court of Appeals held that "Timothy held no such unconditional, contractual right to the payment of benefits, or even a nonvested right to such credit, before he actually purchased military service credit during the parties' marriage, using community funds." (*In re Marriage of Green* (2012) 205 Cal. App. 4th at 1487.) The opinion further explains,

The condition wholly within his control was the right to enter into a contract with CalPERS for the purchase of military service credit in the first place. Before that point, he did not hold a "contractual right [to the military service credit], derived from the terms of the

employment contract." (In re Marriage of Brown (1976) 15 Cal. 3d 838, 845 [126 Cal. Rptr. 633, 544 P.2d 561] italics added.) He instead held no more than an expectancy, because he held "no enforceable right" to the service credit. (Ibid.)

While the Court does identify the uncertainty that the employer would continue to offer the military service credit option as a factor in establishing that the ability to purchase the credit was only an expectancy and not a property right, it is not the determinative factor. Other factors include continued employment with a CalPERS participant, Government Code section 21024 remaining in effect, one's employer continuing to offer the option to buy military service credit pursuant to the statute, and, most importantly, payment of the requisite amount. (*Id.* at 1489.)

Mr. Green misses the subtly of the decision, claiming that it holds that "because an employer may change what benefit it offers, public service credit are mere expectancies and not contingent vested rights." (Petition 12.) Mr. Green uses his faulty interpretation of the holding to allege "a significant modification or departure from prior holdings characterizing retirement benefit rights." (Ibid.) The decision is clear in explaining that, utilizing the reasoning of the seminal case on retirement benefits property rights at dissolution, *In re Marriage of Brown*, Mr. Green's employment contract did not establish a contractual right to the service credit and, therefore, can only be considered an expectancy dependent upon a number of factors, including the employer's ability to cancel military service credit

purchase opportunities. The Court of Appeals decision is in line with the current body of community property case law and review should not be granted on any claimed modification or departure from prior law.

III. THIS CASE DOES NOT HAVE "WIDE RANGING" RAMIFICATIONS

While this case is undoubtedly very important to the parties and does have the potential to effect a small number of others beyond the parties, Mr. Green greatly overstates the potential impact. Mr. Green claims "ramifications of this case are wide ranging, extending far beyond the over 1 million employees covered by the CalPERS system" (Petition 4) and "the valuable public service credits at issue here are a common feature of numerous public retirement plans, and raise substantial questions affecting the property rights of a large number of California families" (Petition 11). He further claims this case effects many other public retirement systems and even private sector ERISA plans.

This case will affect only CalPERS members who have purchased retirement credit under a particular statutory scheme if and when that member dissolves a marriage. While there may be a number of kinds of public service in the CalPERS system with different costing systems, there are only a handful of service credit types with substantially similar schemes to that in question. That is, where the employee pays both the employer

and employee contributions as set out under California Government Code sections 21050 and 21052. In addition to military service credit (Gov. Code, §§ 21024 (for current members), 21027 (already retired local member), 21029 (already retired state or school members) and, 21029.5 (national guard service)), this includes service as a fellow with a branch of the California state government (Gov. Code, § 21020.5), service in the Peace Corps or AmeriCorps (Gov. Code, § 21023.5); employment with a independent data processor (Gov. Code, § 21025.5), and employment in a program sponsored by the Comprehensive Employment and Training Act of 1973 (Gov. Code, § 21030). This case has the potential to impact the property rights of a CalPERS member who has purchased one of these five kinds of service credits and his or her spouse only if and when the member seeks a dissolution of marriage. This is a much more limited pool than Mr. Green would have the Court believe.

Mr. Green does not explain how this case will affect other retirement systems. The other public retirement system that he cites offer credit under an entirely different statutory scheme and so it is overly dramatic to claim all such systems will be impacted by this CalPERS case. The eligibility, costing and purchase procedures are each governed by the systems' regulations, none of which are identical. For example, The Legislators' Retirement Law and State Teachers' Retirement System allow purchase of service credit for military service on the basis of one year of credit for each

five years of credited service in this system (Gov. Code, § 9356.2; Ed. Code, § 22806); the County Employees Retirement Law allows for the purchase of 1 month credit for each 2 months of service (Gov. Code, §§ 31479.3, 31641.1, 31641.2); and CalPERS and the Judicial Retirement Law each offer one year of credit for each one year of service (Gov. Code, § 75031.5). These systems are all unique and analysis of any benefits granted under each system would be analyzed under the applicable statutory scheme. This case addresses only that small universe of CalPERS service credits described above and will not have the wide ranging impact Mr. Green claims.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Green has not shown that Supreme Court of California review is appropriate or needed for this case. The Court of Appeals decision settled the raised questions of law and should stand as the decision in this matter. Ms. Green respectfully requests that the Court deny the Petition for Review.